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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 

To the Shareholders of  
easyhome Ltd. 

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of easyhome Ltd., which comprise 
the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2011 and 2010, and January 1, 
2010, and the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ 
equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's responsibility for the consolidated financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control 
relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion.  

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of easyhome Ltd. as at December 31, 2011 and 2010, and January 1, 2010, and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

/s/ Ernst &Young LLP 

 

Toronto, Canada  
March 6, 2012  

 



easyhome Ltd.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

As at As at As at
December 31, December 31, January 1,

2011 2010 2010

ASSETS 
Current assets
Cash (note 5) 1,019 731 291
Amounts receivable (note 6) 5,893 4,809 5,284
Income taxes recoverable 600 - 2,987
Consumer loans receivable (note 7) 32,619 18,162 7,421
Prepaid expenses 1,316 1,296 1,146
Total current assets 41,447 24,998 17,129
Amounts receivable (note 6) 1,365 1,062 - 
Consumer loans receivable (note 7) 12,319 3,667 1,520
Lease assets (note 8) 66,996 67,692 70,343
Property and equipment (note 9) 12,612 12,953 12,335
Deferred tax assets (note 15) 2,933 8,298 8,385
Intangible assets (note 10) 4,126 3,093 3,155
Goodwill (note 10) 17,325 17,325 17,325
TOTAL ASSETS 159,123 139,088 130,192

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Bank revolving credit facility (note 11) 33,123 15,649 23,764
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 19,504 19,322 13,331
Income taxes payable - 65 - 
Dividends payable (note 13) 1,007 892 884
Deferred lease inducements 598 578 579
Unearned revenue 4,562 5,310 4,818
Term loan (note 11) - 2,602 3,636
Provisions (note 12) 24 421 597
Total current liabilities 58,818 44,839 47,609
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 727 450 - 
Deferred lease inducements 1,959 1,881 1,724
Term loan (note 11) - - 2,484
Provisions (note 12) 77 407 231
Total liabilities 61,581 47,577 52,048

Commitments and contingencies (notes 18 and 19)

Shareholders' equity
Share capital (note 13) 60,207 60,074 48,880
Contributed surplus (note 14) 3,171 3,061 3,142
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (52) (257) - 
Retained earnings 34,216 28,633 26,122
Total shareholders' equity 97,542 91,511 78,144
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 159,123 139,088 130,192

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

On behalf of the Board:

David Ingram Donald K. Johnson
Director Director



easyhome Ltd.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars except earnings per share)

December 31, December 31,
2011 2010

REVENUE
Lease revenue 159,072 159,646
Interest income 15,719 6,603
Other 13,534 7,935

188,325 174,184                 

EXPENSES BEFORE DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION
Salaries and benefits (note 14) 61,081 53,629
Advertising and promotion 6,829 5,562
Bad debts 6,289 3,984
Occupancy 25,330 25,095
Distribution and travel 7,919 7,132
Other 14,144 11,834
Restructuring and other items                             -   3,069

121,592 110,305                 

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION
Depreciation of lease assets (note 8) 47,465 48,596
Depreciation of property and equipment (note 9) 3,506 3,961
Amortization of intangible assets (note 10) 434 380
Impairment, net (note 9) 61 1,232

51,466 54,169                   

Operating income 15,267                   9,710

Interest expense (note 11)                       1,541 1,238

Income before income taxes 13,726 8,472

Income tax expense (recovery) (note 15)
  Current                     (1,248) 2,105
  Deferred 5,362                     295

4,114                     2,400                     

Net income 9,612                     6,072                     

Basic earnings per share (note 16) 0.81 0.58
Diluted earnings per share (note 16) 0.81 0.58

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

Years ended



easyhome Ltd.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

December 31, December 31,
2011 2010

Net income 9,612 6,072

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Foreign currency translation reserve 205 (257)

Comprehensive income 9,817                     5,815                     

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

Years ended



easyhome Ltd.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Accumulated
Other Total 

Share Contributed Total Retained Comprehensive Shareholders'
Capital Surplus Capital Earnings Income (Loss) Equity

Balance, December 31, 2010 60,074 3,061 63,135 28,633 (257) 91,511
Common shares issued 133 (190) (57) - - (57)
Stock-based compensation (note 14) - 300                    300 - - 300
Comprehensive income - - - 9,612 205 9,817
Dividends paid (note 13) - - - (4,029) - (4,029)
Balance, December 31, 2011 60,207               3,171                 63,378               34,216               (52)                     97,542               

Balance, January 1, 2010 48,880 3,142 52,022 26,122 - 78,144
Common shares issued 11,194               (132) 11,062 - - 11,062
Stock-based compensation (note 14) - 51                       51 - - 51
Comprehensive income - - - 6,072 (257) 5,815
Dividends paid (note 13) - - - (3,561) - (3,561)
Balance, December 31, 2010 60,074               3,061                 63,135               28,633               (257)                   91,511               

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements



easyhome Ltd.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)

December 31, December 31,
2011 2010

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income 9,612 6,072
Add (deduct) items not affecting cash

Depreciation of lease assets 47,465 48,596
Depreciation of property and equipment 3,506 3,961
Impairment (net) 61 1,232
Amortization of intangible assets 434 380
Stock-based compensation (note 14) 300 51
Bad debt expense 6,289 3,984
Deferred income tax expense 5,362 295
Deferred financing charges 246 136
Gain on sale of property and equipment (1,037) (896)

72,238                   63,811                   
Net change in other operating assets

and liabilities (note 17) (2,990)                    9,404                     
Net issuance of consumer loans receivable (29,398) (16,872)
Cash provided by operating activities 39,850                   56,343                   

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of lease assets (48,614)                  (47,130)                  
Purchase of property and equipment (4,144)                    (5,777)                    
Purchase of intangible assets (1,440)                    (449)                       
Proceeds on sale of property and equipment 3,775                     2,188                     
Cash used in investing activities (50,423)                  (51,168)                  

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Advances (repayments) of bank revolving credit facility 17,344 (8,115)
Payments of term loan (2,718) (3,654)
Payment of common share dividends (3,913) (3,562)
Redemption of deferred share units (57) - 
Issuance of common shares on exercise of options - 153
Issuance of common shares - 10,700
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities 10,656                   (4,478)                    

Net increase (decrease) in cash during the period 83 697
Foreign exchange impact 205 (257)
Cash, beginning of period 731 291
Cash, end of period 1,019 731

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

Years ended



easyhome Ltd. 
 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
December 31, 2011 and 2010 
 
 

 
1 

 

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 
 
easyhome Ltd. [‘Parent company’] was incorporated under the laws of Alberta, Canada by Certificate and Articles of 
Incorporation dated December 14, 1990 and was continued as a corporation in Ontario pursuant to Articles of Continuance 
dated July 22, 1993.  The Parent company has common shares listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange [‘TSX’].  The Parent 
company’s head office is located in Mississauga, Ontario, Canada while the registered office is located in Toronto, Ontario, 
Canada. 
 
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Parent company, all wholly owned subsidiaries 
where control is established by the Parent company's ability to determine strategic, operating, investing and financing policies 
without the cooperation of others, and certain special purposes entities [‘SPEs’] where control is achieved on a basis other 
than through ownership of a majority of voting rights [collectively referred to as “easyhome” or the “Company”]. The Parent 
company’s principal subsidiaries are: 
 
• RTO Asset Management Inc. 
• easyfinancial Services Inc. 
• easyhome U.S. Ltd. 
• Insta-rent Ltd. 
 
The Company's principal operating activities include merchandise leasing of household furnishings, appliances and home 
electronic products to consumers under weekly or monthly leasing agreements.  In addition, the Company offers a variety of 
financial services, including consumer loans, prepaid cards and cheque cashing through its easyfinancial Services Inc. 
business [“easyfinancial”]. 
 
The Company operates in three reportable segments; leasing, easyfinancial and franchising.  As at December 31, 2011, the 
Company operated 213 easyhome stores (2010 – 217), 88 easyfinancial  locations (2010 – 68) and had 48 easyhome 
franchise/license locations (2010 – 39). 
 
 
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 
The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on March 5, 2012. 
 
Statement of Compliance with IFRS 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards [“IFRS”] as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board [“IASB”]. These are the 
Company’s first annual consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS and IFRS 1, First-time Adoption 
of International Financial Reporting Standards [“IFRS 1”] have been applied. The Company’s consolidated financial 
statements were previously prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles [“CGAAP”].  In 
preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Company has amended certain accounting methods previously applied 
in the CGAAP financial statements to comply with IFRS.  The comparative figures for 2010 were restated to reflect these 
adjustments.  Certain information and footnote disclosures which are considered material to the understanding of the 
Company’s transition to IFRS along with reconciliations and descriptions of the effect of the transition from CGAAP to IFRS 
on reported financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the Company is provided in note 24.  
  
  



easyhome Ltd. 
 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
December 31, 2011 and 2010 
 
 

 
2 

 

Early Adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
 
The Company has early adopted IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments”, as amended in October 2010 [‘IFRS 9 (2010)”] effective 
from January 1, 2010.  IFRS 9 (2010) requires that an entity classifies its financial assets as subsequently measured at either 
amortized cost or fair value depending on the entity's business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual 
cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.  IFRS 9 (2010) requires that an entity classifies its financial liabilities as 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, except in some circumstances including for 
financial liabilities at fair value through comprehensive income and financial guarantee contracts.  These changes in 
accounting policy are applied on a retrospective basis from January 1, 2010.  IFRS 9 (2010) was not applied to financial 
assets or financial liabilities that have been derecognized at the date of initial application of IFRS 9. 
 
In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 9 (2010), the Company classified financial assets held at the date of 
initial application based on the facts and circumstances of the business model in which the financial assets were held at that 
date.  This classification resulted in the Company continuing to account for financial assets at amortized cost.  The 
Company's financial liabilities under IFRS 9 (2010) are classified as financial liabilities as subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  The classifications of the financial assets and financial liabilities of 
the Company under IFRS 9 (2010) did not require reclassification on the date of initial application. 
 
The adoption of IFRS 9 (2010) had no impact on shareholders’ equity as at January 1, 2010 or comprehensive income for the 
years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 since the measurement basis for financial assets remained the same. 
 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Basis of Consolidation 
 
The financial statements of the subsidiaries and SPEs are prepared for the same reporting period as the financial statements of 
the Parent company using consistent accounting policies.  The subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, 
being the date on which the Company obtains control, and the SPEs are fully consolidated from the date control is achieved, 
and both continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. 
 
All intra-group transactions and balances have been eliminated on consolidation. 
 
Presentation Currency 
 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars [“CAD”], which is the Parent company's functional 
currency.  All financial information presented in CAD has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless noted otherwise. 
 
Foreign Currency Translation 
 
The functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which a reporting entity operates and is 
normally the currency in which the entity generates and expends cash.  The Parent company's functional currency is the 
Canadian dollar.  Each entity in the Company determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial 
statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.  The functional currency of the Company’s U.S. 
subsidiary, easyhome U.S. Ltd., is the U.S. dollar.   The functional currency of all other entities in the Company is the 
Canadian dollar. 
 
 



easyhome Ltd. 
 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
December 31, 2011 and 2010 
 
 

 
3 

 

Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded at the rate prevailing at the date of the transaction.  Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated into the functional currency at the spot rate on the reporting date.  
All differences are recorded in comprehensive income.  Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a 
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. 
  
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into CAD at the rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date 
and items in comprehensive income are translated at the average exchange rates prevailing for the year.  The exchange 
differences arising on the translation are recognized in other comprehensive income.  On disposal of a foreign operation, the 
component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognized in net income. 
 
The Parent company has monetary items that are receivable from foreign operations. A monetary item for which settlement is 
neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future is, in substance, a part of the Parent company’s net investment in 
that foreign operation. Exchange differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of a reporting entity's net investment 
in a foreign operation are recognized in income in the separate financial statements of the foreign operation. In the 
consolidated financial statements such exchange differences are recognized initially in other comprehensive income and 
reclassified from other comprehensive income to net income on disposal of the net investment in foreign operations. 
 
Revenue Recognition 
 
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue 
can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates 
and sales taxes. The Company assesses its revenue arrangements against specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting 
as principal or agent. The Company has concluded that it is acting as principal in all of its revenue arrangements except for 
the sale of certain customer protection products where it acts as agent and therefore recognizes such revenue on a net basis.  
 
i)  Lease Revenue 
 
Merchandise is leased to customers pursuant to agreements that provide for weekly or monthly lease payments collected in 
advance.  The lease agreements can be terminated by the customer at the end of the weekly or monthly lease period without 
any further obligation or cost to the customer.   
 
Lease revenue consists of lease payments, product damage liability waivers, processing and other fees.  Revenue from lease 
agreements is recognized when earned.  Lease revenue also consists of revenue from the ultimate sale of goods to customers 
which represents the culmination of the lease asset life cycle and occurs when title passes to the customer.  Such revenue is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 
 
ii)  Interest Revenue  
 
Interest revenue from consumer loans receivable is recognized when earned using the effective interest rate method.  
 
iii) Other Revenue 
 
Other revenue consists primarily of the sale of customer protection products, revenue generated from franchising including 
royalties and franchise fees, and other fees, all of which are recognized when earned.  
 
 
 
 



easyhome Ltd. 
 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
December 31, 2011 and 2010 
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Vendor Rebates 
 
The Company participates in various vendor rebate programs, including vendor volume rebates and vendor advertising 
incentives.   The Company records the benefit of vendor volume rebates on purchases made as a reduction of lease assets 
based on the rebate amounts the Company believes are probable and reasonably estimable during the term of each rebate 
program.   Vendor advertising incentives that are related to specific advertising programs are accounted for as a reduction of 
the related expenses. 
 
Cash 
 
Cash is comprised of bank balances, cash on hand, and demand deposits, adjusted for in-transit items such as outstanding 
cheques and deposits. 
 
Financial Assets  
 
Financial assets consist of amounts receivable and consumer loans receivable, which are stated net of an allowance for loan 
losses.  Financial assets are initially measured at fair value.  
 
Amounts receivable are subsequently measured at amortized cost and are carried at the amount of cash expected to be 
received.   
 
The Company's consumer loans receivable are subsequently measured at amortized cost.  Amortized cost is determined using 
the effective interest rate method.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the consumer loans receivable to the carrying amount.  When calculating the effective 
interest rate, the Company estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not 
future loan losses.  There are no significant incremental costs incurred in writing consumer loans.  
 
Impairment of Financial Assets 
 
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of 
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is 
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset 
(an incurred ‘loss event’) and the event has a negative impact on the estimated cash flows of the financial asset and the loss 
can be reliably estimated.  
 
The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is 
recognized as a bad debts expense. The allowance for loan losses consists of both specific allowances on identified impaired 
loans and an estimate of incurred losses in the loan portfolio that have not yet been identified based on an assessment of 
historical loss rates and patterns.  When a loan is identified as impaired, it is written down to the net present value of the 
expected cash flows using the effective interest rate method.  
 
Financial assets, together with the associated allowances, are written off when there is no realistic prospect of further 
recovery. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is increased or reduced by 
adjusting the allowance account.  If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to bad debts expense. 
 
The Company does not have any financial assets that are subsequently measured at fair value. 
 
 



easyhome Ltd. 
 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
December 31, 2011 and 2010 
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Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or the Company has 
transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset.  
 
Lease Assets 
 
Lease assets are stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.  
 
The cost of lease assets comprises their purchase price and any costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to the location 
and condition necessary for them to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.  Vendor volume rebates 
are recorded as a reduction of the cost of lease assets.  
 
As the leases are effectively cancellable by the customer with a week’s notice, and there are no bargain purchase option 
provided to the customer, the customer leases are considered operating in nature. Lease agreements entitle customers to buy 
out a lease asset earlier in accordance with conditions stipulated in the lease agreement. 
 
The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of the lease assets are reviewed at each financial year end, and if 
expectations differ from previous estimates, they are adjusted and the changes are accounted for prospectively as a change in 
accounting estimates. In the event management determines that the Company can no longer lease or sell certain lease assets, 
they are written off.  The residual value of lease assets is nominal. 
 
Depreciation on lease assets is charged to net income as follows:   
 

• Assets on lease, excluding game stations, computers and related equipment, are depreciated in proportion to the 
lease payments received to the total expected lease amounts provided over the lease agreement term [the “units of 
activity method”].   Lease assets that are subject to the units of activity method of depreciation that are not on lease 
for less than 90 consecutive days are not depreciated during such period.  After that they are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over 36 months.  When an asset goes on lease, depreciation will revert to the units of activity 
basis.  

 
• Game stations are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 18 months. Computers and related equipment are 

depreciated on a straight-line basis over 24 months.  The depreciation for game stations, computers and related 
equipment commences at the earlier of the date of the first lease or 90 days after arrival in the store and continues 
uninterrupted thereafter on a straight-line basis over the periods indicated.  

 
• Depreciation for all lease assets includes the remaining book value at the time of disposition of the lease assets that 

have been sold and amounts which have been charged off as stolen, lost or no longer suitable for lease. 
 
The Company’s lease assets are subject to theft, loss or other damage from its customers.  The Company records a provision 
against the carrying value of lease assets for estimated losses.  
 
Property and Equipment 
 
The cost of property and equipment comprises their purchase price and any costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to 
the location and condition necessary for them to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.  
 
Property and equipment are stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.  
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
December 31, 2011 and 2010 
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Subsequent costs are included in an asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably.  All other expenses are charged to net income as repairs and maintenance expense when incurred. 
 
Depreciation on property and equipment is charged to net income.   
 
Property and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: 
 

Asset category 
 

Estimated useful lives 

Furniture and fixtures 7 years 
Office equipment and other computers 7 years 
Signage 7 years 
Computers 5 years 
Automotive 5 years 
Leasehold improvements the lesser of 5 years or lease term 

 
Property and equipment are derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from their use or 
disposal.  Any gains or losses arising on derecognition of the assets (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets) are included in net income in the period the assets are derecognized. 
 
Intangible Assets 
 
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a 
business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at 
cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Internally generated intangible assets, 
excluding capitalized development costs, are not capitalized and the expenditure is reflected in net income in the period in 
which the expenditure is incurred. 
 
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. 
 
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is 
an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period and the amortization method for an 
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period for potential impairment 
indicators. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied 
in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in 
accounting estimates. The amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognized in net income. 
 
Customer lists and software are amortized over their estimated useful life of five years.   
 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are tested for impairment annually.  The assessment of 
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in 
useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis. 
 
The Company’s trademarks have been assessed to have an indefinite life. 
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Gains or losses arising from the derecognition of intangible assets are measured as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and are recognized in net income when the assets are derecognized. 
 
Development Costs 
 
Development expenditures, including those related to the development of software, are recognized as an intangible asset 
when the Company can demonstrate: 

• the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale; 
• its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset; 
• how the asset will generate future economic benefits; 
• the availability of resources to complete the asset; and 
• the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development. 

 
Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the cost model is applied requiring the asset to be 
carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization of the asset begins when 
development is complete and the asset is available for use. It is amortized over the period of expected future benefit. During 
the period of development, the asset is tested for impairment annually.   
 
Business Combinations and Goodwill  
 
Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value 
of the assets given, equity instruments and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Acquisition costs for 
business combinations incurred subsequent to January 1, 2010 are expensed. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and 
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at fair value at the date of acquisition, 
irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest. 
 
Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the Company’s share in 
the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. If the fair values of the assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities can only be calculated on a provisional basis, the business combination is recognized 
using provisional values. Any adjustments resulting from the completion of the measurement process are recognized within 
twelve months of the date of acquisition.  
 
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the 
Company’s operating segments that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether 
other assets and liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those segments.  
 
On first-time adoption of IFRS, the Company elected not to apply IFRS 3, “Business Combinations”, retrospectively to 
acquisitions carried out before January 1, 2010. Accordingly, the goodwill associated with acquisitions carried out prior to 
the IFRS transition date of January 1, 2010 is carried at the amount reported in the consolidated financial statements prepared 
under CGAAP for the year ended December 31, 2009.  
 
Impairment of Non-financial Assets 
 
The Company assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset or a cash-generating unit [“CGU”] 
may be impaired. A CGU is defined as the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.  The Company has determined that this is at the 
individual store level. 
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If an indication of impairment exists, or when annual testing for an asset is required, the Company estimates the asset’s or 
CGU’s recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs to sell and its 
value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows 
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case it is determined for the CGU to 
which the asset belongs. Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.  
 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value 
less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. In cases where fair value less costs to sell cannot be estimated, value 
in use is utilized as the basis to determine the recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are recognized in net income. 
 
The impairment test calculations are based on detailed budgets and forecasts which are prepared annually for each CGU to 
which the assets are allocated. These budgets and forecasts generally cover a period of five years with a long term growth 
rate applied after the fifth year.  
 
For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that 
previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Company 
estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has 
been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss 
was recognized. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset or CGU does not exceed its recoverable 
amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of amortization, had no impairment loss been 
recognized for the asset or CGU in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in net income.  
 
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 
Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each group of CGUs to which the goodwill 
relates. Where the recoverable amount of the CGUs is less than their carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized. 
Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods. 
 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually at the CGU level and when circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 
 
Financial Liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and in the case of loans and borrowings, they are recognized at the 
fair value of proceeds received, net of directly attributable transaction costs. The Company’s financial liabilities include bank 
revolving credit facility, interest-bearing loans and borrowings, accounts payable and accrued liabilities.  
 
After initial recognition, the Company’s interest bearing debt is subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate method.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any fees or costs related to the interest bearing debt.  
Interest expense is included in net income.   
 
Non-interest bearing financial liabilities such as accounts payable and accrued liabilities are carried at the amount owing. 
 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired.  Any gains or 
losses are recognized in net income when liabilities are derecognized.  
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Leases 
 
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at 
inception date, whether fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement 
conveys a right to use the asset. 
 
i) Company as a Lessee  
 
Finance leases which transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased item are capitalized 
at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset, or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease 
payments. Subsequent lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and a reduction of the lease liability. Finance 
charges are recognized in net income. Capitalized leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of 
the asset and the lease term.  The Company has not entered into any finance leases. 
 
Operating lease payments (net of any amortization of incentives) are expensed as incurred. Incentives received from the 
lessor to enter into an operating lease are capitalized and depreciated over the term of the lease. 
 
ii) Company as a Lessor   
 
Leases where the Company does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as 
operating leases. The leasing income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Contingent rents are 
recognized as revenue in the period in which they are earned.   
 
The Company is in the business of leasing assets.  As the leases are effectively cancellable by the customer with a week’s 
notice, and there are no bargain purchase option provided to the customer, the customer leases are considered operating in 
nature. 
 
Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past event, and 
the costs to settle the obligation are both probable and reliably measurable. Where there is expected to be a reimbursement of 
some or all of a provision, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but 
only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are 
discounted. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision as a result of the passage of time is recognized as a 
finance cost. 
 
Contingencies 
 
Contingent liabilities are recognized in the consolidated financial statements where the likelihood of the obligation arising is 
deemed probable and measurable by management.  Contingent assets are not recognized in the consolidated financial 
statements even if probable, rather note disclosure is provided.  Probable is defined as being more than 50% likely to occur. 
 
Taxes 
 
i) Current Income Tax 
 
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 
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Current income tax assets and liabilities are only offset if a legally enforceable right exists to offset the amounts and the 
Company intends to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not in net income.  
 
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.  
 
ii)  Deferred Income Tax 
 
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax 
basis of assets and liabilities and their carrying amount for financial reporting purposes. Deductible income tax liabilities are 
recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary 
differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable income 
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused 
tax losses can be utilized.  
The following temporary differences do not result in deferred income tax assets or liabilities:  
 

• the initial recognition of assets or liabilities, not arising in a business combination, that does not affect accounting or 
taxable profit; 

• goodwill; and 
• investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities where the timing of reversal of the temporary 

differences can be controlled and reversal in the foreseeable future is not probable. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax 
asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred income tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are 
recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable income will be available to allow the deferred income 
tax asset to be recovered.   
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset 
is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period.  
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current income tax assets 
against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation 
authority. 
 
iii) Sales Tax 
 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of sales tax except where the sales tax incurred on a 
purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the sales tax is recognized as part 
of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable. 
 
The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of amounts receivable 
or accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the consolidated statements of financial position. 
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Stock-based Payment Transactions 
 
The Company has stock-based compensation plans as described in note 14. 
    
i) Equity-settled Transactions 
 
The Company has stock options, Restricted Share Units [“RSU”] and Deferred Share Units [“DSU”] which are currently 
accounted for as equity-settled awards. The cost of such equity-settled transactions is measured by reference to the fair value 
determined using the Black-Scholes option valuation model.  The inputs into this model are based on management’s 
judgments and estimates. 
 
The cost of equity-settled transactions is charged to net income, with a corresponding increase in contributed surplus, over 
the period in which the performance and or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognized for equity-
settled transactions at each reporting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Company’s best 
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The income or expense for a period represents the 
movement in cumulative expense recognized at the beginning and end of that period and is recognized in salaries and benefits 
expense.  
 
No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is 
conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market or 
non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and or service conditions are satisfied. 
 
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognized is the expense as if the terms had 
not been modified and if the original terms of the award are met. An additional expense is recognized for any modification 
that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as 
measured at the date of modification. 
 
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet 
recognized for the award is recognized immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the 
control of either the Company or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, 
and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they are a 
modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph. All cancellations of equity-settled awards are 
treated equally. 
 
ii) Cash-settled Transactions 
 
The Company has Performance Share Units [“PSU”] which mirror the value of the Company’s publicly-traded common 
shares and can only be settled in cash [“cash-settled transactions”]. The cost of cash-settled transactions is measured initially 
at fair value at the grant date. The liability is remeasured to fair value, at each reporting date up to and including the 
settlement date, based on the value of the Company’s publicly-traded common shares and anticipated vesting based on 
expected earnings per share,  Changes in fair value are recognized in salaries and benefits expense.   
 
The cost of cash-settled transactions is charged to net income, with a corresponding increase in liabilities, over the period in 
which the performance and or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognized for cash-settled 
transactions at each reporting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Company’s best 
estimate of the number of cash-settled instruments that will ultimately vest. The income or expense for a period represents the 
movement in cumulative expense recognized at the beginning and end of that period and is recognized in salaries and benefits 
expense.  
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No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest. 
 
Earnings Per Share 
 
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing the net income by the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during the year.   
 
Diluted earnings per share is calculated using the treasury stock method, which assumes that the cash that would be received 
on the exercise of options and warrants is applied to purchase shares at the average price during the period and that the 
difference between the shares issued upon exercise of the options and the number of shares obtainable under this 
computation, on a weighted average basis, is added to the number of shares outstanding.    
 
Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions 
 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make accounting 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting periods.  
 
These accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s 
historical experience, best knowledge of current events and conditions and other factors that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances.  As future events and their effects cannot be determined with precision, actual results could differ 
significantly from these estimates, which could materially impact these consolidated financial statements.  Changes in 
estimates will be reflected in the consolidated financial statements in future periods. 
 
Key areas of estimation where management has made difficult, complex or subjective judgments often in respect of matters 
that are inherently uncertain are as follows: 
 
i) Consumer Loan Loss Provisions 
 
The allowance for loan losses consists of both specific allowances on identified impaired loans and an estimate of incurred 
losses in the loan portfolio that have not yet been identified based on an assessment of historical loss rates and patterns. 
 
ii) Cost of Lease Assets  
 
Lease assets are recorded at cost, including freight. Vendor volume rebates are recorded as a reduction of the cost of lease 
assets and are determined based on the rebate amounts the Company believes are probable and reasonably estimable during 
the term of each rebate program. 
 
iii) Depreciation of Lease Assets 
 
Assets on lease, (excluding game stations, computers and related equipment) are depreciated in the proportion of lease 
payments received to total expected lease amounts provided over the lease agreement term, which are estimated by 
management for each product category. 
 
iv) Depreciation of Property and Equipment 
 
Property and equipment are recorded at cost, including freight, and are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives, which are estimated by management for each class of asset. 
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v) Impairment on Non-Financial Assets 
 
The indicators of impairment are based on management’s judgment.  If an indication of impairment exists, or when annual 
testing for an asset is required, the Company estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount 
of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable 
amount. In assessing the recoverable amount, management estimates the asset’s or CGU’s value in use.  Value in use is based 
on the estimated future cash flows of the asset or CGU discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  
 
The impairment test calculations are based on detailed budgets and forecasts which are prepared for each CGU to which the 
assets are allocated. These budgets and forecasts generally cover a period of three years with a long term growth rate applied 
after the third year.  Key areas of management judgment involve the three year cash flow forecast, the growth rate applied to 
cash flows subsequent to the three years and the discount rate.   
 
vi) Impairment of Goodwill and Indefinite Life Intangibles 
 
In assessing the recoverable amount, management estimated the group of CGU’s value in use.  Value in use is based on the 
estimated future cash flows of the asset or CGU discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. The impairment test calculations are based 
on detailed budgets and forecasts which are prepared for each CGU to which the assets are allocated. These budgets and 
forecasts generally cover a period of three years with a long term growth rate applied after the third year.  Key areas of 
management judgment involve the three year cash flow forecast, the growth rate applied to cash flows subsequent to the three 
years and the discount rate.   
 
vii) Fair Value of Stock-based Compensation 
 
The fair value of the options granted are measured at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. The 
Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that are fully 
transferable and have no vesting restrictions. In addition, option valuation models require the input of highly subjective 
assumptions, including expected share price volatility. The Company’s share options have characteristics significantly 
different from those of freely traded options and because changes in subjective input assumptions can materially affect the 
fair value estimate, the existing models do not necessarily provide a single reliable measure of the fair value of the unit 
options granted. 
 
The vesting of the Company’s stock-based compensation plans is based on the expected achievement of long term earnings 
per share targets; the assessment of which is subject to management’s judgment. 
 
viii) Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past event, and 
the costs to settle the obligation are both probable and reliably measurable, as determined by management.  
 
ix) Taxation amounts 
 
Income tax provisions, including current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities, may require estimates and 
interpretations of federal and provincial income tax rules and regulations and judgments as to their interpretation and 
application to the Company’s specific situation. Therefore, it is possible that the ultimate value of the tax assets and liabilities 
could change in the future and that changes to these amounts could have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements. 
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4. STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
 
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures — Enhanced Derecognition Disclosure  
 
The amendment requires additional disclosure about financial assets that have been transferred but not derecognized to 
enable the user of the Company’s consolidated financial statements to understand the relationship with those assets that have 
not been derecognized and their associated liabilities. In addition, the amendment requires disclosures about continuing 
involvement in derecognized assets to enable the user to evaluate the nature of, and risks associated with, the entity’s 
continuing involvement in those derecognized assets. The amendment becomes effective for the Company’s as of January 1, 
2012. The amendments have no impact on the Company’s disclosures. 
 
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements [“IFRS 10”], is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2013 and will replace portions of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements [“IAS 27”] and interpretation SIC-
12, Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities.  Under IFRS 10, consolidated financial statements include all controlled 
entities under a single control model that applies to all entities, including SPEs and structured entities.  A group will still 
continue to consist of a parent and its subsidiaries; however IFRS 10 uses different terminology from IAS 27 in describing its 
control model.  The changes introduced by IFRS 10 will require management to exercise significant judgement to determine 
which entities are controlled and therefore are required to be consolidated by a parent, compared with the requirements that 
were in IAS 27.  While early adoption of this standard is permitted, the Company has decided not to early adopt. The 
Company has not fully assessed the impact of adopting IFRS 10; however, it anticipates that its impact will be limited. 
 
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 
 
IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities [“IFRS 12”] includes disclosure requirements about subsidiaries, joint 
ventures, and associates, as well as unconsolidated structured entities.  Many of the disclosure requirements were previously 
included in IAS 27, IAS 1 and IAS 28 while others are new. This standard is effective for the Company’s as of January 1, 
2013.  While early adoption is permitted, the Company has decided not to early adopt. The Company has not fully assessed 
the impact of adopting IFRS 12; however, it anticipates that its impact will be limited. 
 
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 
 
IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement [“IFRS 13”] provides guidance on how to measure fair value of financial and non-
financial assets and liabilities when fair value is required or permitted under IFRS. While many of the concepts in IFRS 13 
are consistent with current practice, certain principles could have a significant effect on some entities adopting the standard. 
IFRS 13 is effective for the Company January 1, 2013 and will be adopted by the Company prospectively.  The Company 
does not expect any impact on its financial position or performance. 
 
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
 
In June 2011, the IASB amended IAS 1 by revising how certain items are presented in other comprehensive income. Items 
within other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to net income or loss will be separated from items that will not. 
The standard is effective for the Company’s as at January 1, 2013.  While early adoption is permitted, the Company has 
decided not to early adopt. The Company is currently assessing the impact of the amendment on its financial statements. 
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5. CASH 
 

($ in 000’s)   
December 31, 

2011 
December 31, 

2010 
January 1, 

2010 
      
Cash on hand and at banks   1,019 731 291 
 
Cash on hand and at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.   
 
 
6. AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
 
Amounts receivable are comprised of the following: 
 

($ in 000’s)   
December 31, 

2011 
December 31, 

2010 
January 1, 

2010 
      
Vendor rebate receivable   1,383 1,366 1,377 
Due from franchisees   2,386 2,668 1,686 
Other   3,489 1,837 2,221 
   7,258 5,871 5,284 
      
Current   5,893 4,809 5,284 
Non-current   1,365 1,062 - 
   7,258 5,871 5,284 
 
Other amounts receivable consist of amounts due from customers, employees, vendor rebates, indirect tax and other items. 
 
 
7. CONSUMER LOANS RECEIVABLE  
 
Consumer loans receivable represent amounts advanced to customers of easyfinancial. Loan terms generally range from 6 to 
36 months. 
 

($ in 000’s)  
December 31, 

2011 
December 31, 

2010 
January 1, 

2010 
     
Consumer loans receivable  47,565 23,800 9,251 
Allowance for loan losses  (2,627) (1,971) (310) 
  44,938 21,829 8,941 
     
Current  32,619 18,162 7,421 
Non-current  12,319 3,667 1,520 
  44,938 21,829 8,941 
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An aging analysis of consumer loans past due as at December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010 are as 
follows: 
 
  December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010      January 1, 2010 

($ in 000’s except %)   $ 

% of 
total 
loans $ 

% of total 
loans          $ 

% of  
total 
loans 

         
1 - 30 days   2,438 5.1% 1,238 5.2%   443 4.8% 
31 - 44 days   400 0.8% 238 1.0% 62 0.7% 
45 - 60 days   358 0.8% 405 1.7% 40 0.4% 
61 - 90 days   519 1.1% 690 2.9% 78 0.8% 
 
The changes in the allowance for loan losses are summarized below: 
 
   Years Ended 

($ in 000’s)   
December 31, 

2011 
December 31, 

2010 
     
Balance, beginning of year   1,971 310 
Amounts written off against allowance   (5,046) (1,897) 
Increase due to normal lending and collection activities   6,301 2,093 
Increase due to refinement of estimating the allowance   - 866 
Amounts written off against provision due to employee fraud   (599) (303) 
Increase due to employee fraud   - 902 
Balance, end of year   2,627 1,971 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2010, a material employee fraud was detected by the Company.  The consumer loans 
receivable allowance was increased in 2010 to provide for the risk of non-collection of customer accounts due to fraudulent 
loans or the non-compliance of the Company’s standard underwriting procedures.  During 2011, $599 of consumer loans 
were written off which related to the fraud and for which a provision was created in 2010. 
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8. LEASE ASSETS 
 
($ in 000’s)  Total 
   
Cost   
As at January 1, 2010  129,303 
Additions  47,130 
Disposals  (56,053) 
Foreign exchange differences  (68) 
As at December 31, 2010  120,312 
Additions  48,614 
Disposals  (57,159) 
Foreign exchange differences  75 
As at December 31, 2011  111,842 
   
Accumulated Depreciation   
As at January 1, 2010  (58,960) 
Depreciation for the year  (48,596) 
Disposals  55,127 
Foreign exchange differences  (191) 
As at December 31, 2010  (52,620) 
Depreciation for the year  (47,465) 
Disposals  55,383 
Foreign exchange differences  (144) 
As at December 31, 2011  (44,846) 
   
Net Book Value   
As at January 1, 2010  70,343 
As at December 31, 2010  67,692 
As at December 31, 2011  66,996 
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9. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 

($ in 000’s) 
Furniture & 

Fixtures 
Office 

Equipment Automotive Signage 
Leasehold 

Improvement Total 
       
Cost       
As at January 1, 2010 8,336 7,949 528 4,547 11,819 33,179 
Additions 1,545 1,839 215 540 1,638 5,777 
Disposals (337) (152) (262) - (64) (815) 
Foreign exchange differences (69) (69) (12) - (85) (235) 
As at December 31, 2010 9,475 9,567 469 5,087 13,308 37,906 
Additions 1,335 1,088 33 292 1,396 4,144 
Disposals (352) (339) (42) (405) (344) (1,482) 
Foreign exchange differences  (71) (14) 1 (14) (2) (100) 
As at December 31, 2011 10,387 10,302 461 4,960 14,358 40,468 
       
Accumulated Depreciation and Provision for Impairment     
As at January 1, 2010 (4,501) (5,410) (161) (2,842) (7,930) (20,844) 
Depreciation for the year (953) (768) (107) (601) (1,532) (3,961) 
Provision for impairment (361) (205) - (203) (727) (1,496) 
Recovery of impairment 74 31 - 59 100 264 
Disposals 348 241 73 57 446 1,165 
Foreign exchange differences (20) (20) (1) (12) (28) (81) 
As at December 31, 2010 (5,413) (6,131) (196) (3,542) (9,671) (24,953) 
Depreciation for the year (816) (877) (78) (291) (1,444) (3,506) 
Provision for impairment (285) (81) - (55) (235) (656) 
Recovery of impairment 140 79 - 112 264 595 
Disposals 160 88 15 92 209 564 
Foreign exchange differences 22 24 1 11 38 98 
As at December 31, 2011 (6,192) (6,898) (258) (3,673) (10,839) (27,856) 
       
Net Book Value       
As at January 1, 2010 3,835 2,539 367 1,705 3,889 12,335 
As at December 31, 2010 4,062 3,436 273 1,545 3,637 12,953 
As at December 31, 2011 4,195 3,404 207 1,287 3,519 12,612 
 
The amount of property and equipment classified as under construction or development and not being amortized was nil 
as at December 31, 2011 (December 31, 2010 - $0.7 million and January 1, 2010 - $0.6 million).   
 
Various impairment indicators were used to determine the need to test a CGU for impairment.  Examples of these indicators 
include a significant decline in revenue, performance significantly below budget and expectations and negative CGU 
operating income.  Where these impairment indicators existed, the carrying value of the assets within a CGU was compared 
with its estimated recoverable value which was generally considered to be the CGU’s value in use.  When determining the 
value in use of a CGU, the Company developed a discounted cash flow model for the individual CGU.  Sales and cost 
forecasts were based on actual operating results, three-year operating budgets consistent with strategic plans presented to the 
Company’s Board of Directors and a 3% long term growth rate consistent with industry practice.  The forecasted cash flow 
was discounted using a 22% before tax discount rate.  Where the carrying value of the CGUs assets exceeded the recoverable 
amounts, as represented by the CGU’s value in use, the store’s property and equipment assets were written down.  It was 
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concluded that due to the portability of leased assets held within the CGU and the cash flows generated by individual lease 
assets that no impairment write down of the lease assets was required.  As such the CGU impairment charge was limited to 
the property and equipment held by the impaired CGU.  
 
For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $656 (December 31, 2010 - $1,496) 
offset by an impairment recovery of $595 (December 31, 2010 - $264).  The net impairment charge for 2011 was $61 (2010 - 
$1,232).  All impairment charges relate solely to the leasing segment. 
 
10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL 
 
($ in 000’s) Trademarks Customer Lists Software Total 
     
Cost     
As at January 1, 2010 1,810 246 1,886 3,942 
Additions - - 447 447 
Disposals - - (29) (29) 
Foreign exchange differences (46) - - (46) 
As at December 31, 2010 1,764 246 2,304 4,314 
Additions 38 - 1,402 1,440 
Disposals - - (16) (16) 
Foreign exchange differences (80) (11) (4) (95) 
As at December 31, 2011 1,722 235 3,686 5,643 
     
Accumulated Amortization and Provision for Impairment    
As at January 1, 2010 - (17) (770) (787) 
Amortization for the year - (46) (334) (380) 
Disposals - - 4 4 
Foreign exchange differences - (6) (52) (58) 
As at December 31, 2010 - (69) (1,152) (1,221) 
Amortization for the year - (44) (390) (434) 
Disposals - (4) 5 1 
Foreign exchange differences - 12 125 137 
As at December 31, 2011 - (105) (1,412) (1,517) 
     
Net Book Value     
As at January 1, 2010 1,810 229 1,116 3,155 
As at December 31, 2010 1,764 177 1,152 3,093 
As at December 31, 2011 1,722 130 2,274 4,126 
 
Goodwill was $17.3 million as at December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010.  There were no additions, 
disposals or impairments applied to goodwill during the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010.  Goodwill 
is not amortized.  Goodwill arose through acquisitions. 
 
Trademarks are considered indefinite life intangible assets as there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the assets 
are expected to generate net cash flows.  Trademarks were purchased and were not internally generated. 
 
Software and customer lists are amortized over five years which is considered the estimated useful life of the assets.  All 
software and customer lists were purchased.   
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For purposes of testing the indefinite life intangible assets, the goodwill and trademarks are allocated to the appropriate group 
of CGUs to which they relate.  In the case of goodwill, the carrying value is allocated to the Canadian leasing CGUs.  In the 
case of trademarks, the carrying value is allocated to the U.S. leasing CGUs.  Impairment testing is done annually and was 
performed as at December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010.  The impairment test consisted of comparing 
the carrying value of assets within the aforementioned grouping of CGUs to the recoverable amount of that grouping as 
measured by discounting the future cash flows expected to be so generated.  The discounted cash flow model was based on 
historical operating results, detailed sales and cost forecasts over a five-year period and long term growth rates consistent 
with industry averages, all of which were consistent with the strategic plans presented to the Company’s Board of Directors.   
 
Based on the analysis performed by management, no impairment charge was required on goodwill or the intangible assets. 
 
 
11. BANK REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY AND TERM LOAN 
 
On July 21, 2011, the Company entered into new credit facilities with a syndicate of banks which provides for a $40 million 
revolving credit facility and also included a related term loan and letter of credit facilities for $0.9 million and $0.5 million, 
respectively. The revolving credit facility reduces to $35 million on July 21, 2012 and expires on July 21, 2013. Borrowings 
under previous facilities were rolled into the new facilities. 
 
Bank Revolving Credit Facility 
 

($ in 000’s)  
December 31, 

2011 
December 31, 

2010 
 January 1, 

2010 
     
Bank revolving credit facility  33,123 15,649 23,764 
 
Term Loan 
 
The Company’s term loan relates to a $10 million three-year term loan which the Company arranged during the third quarter 
of 2008 to fund the acquisition of Insta-Rent Inc.  This term loan was repaid on schedule during 2011. 
 

($ in 000’s)  
December 31, 

2011 
December 31, 

2010 
January 1, 

2010 
     
Term loan   - 2,602 6,120 
 
Canadian dollar loans under the facilities bear interest at the lender’s prime rate plus 125 basis points [“bps”] or plus 175 bps 
if the Company’s total debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization [“EBITDA”] ratio equals or 
exceeds two times. The Company also has the option to convert the loans to US Base, Bankers’ Acceptance or LIBOR rates. 
Currently, the Company’s effective interest rate under the facilities is 4.25%. 
 
The credit facilities are fully secured by substantially all assets of the Company, contain certain positive and negative 
covenants and other usual and customary terms and conditions. The financial covenants of the new credit facilities are as 
follows: 
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Financial Covenant Requirements 
Total debt to EBITDA ratio          < 2.5, reducing to < 2.0 in the quarter ending Dec. 31, 2011 
Fixed coverage ratio          > 1.0, increasing to > 1.15 in the quarter ending Dec. 31, 2011 and  
           increasing to > 1.25 in the quarter ending Dec. 31, 2012 
Total debt to effective tangible net worth ratio          < 0.55 
Total debt to lease assets          < 0.75 
 
As at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the Company was in compliance with all of its financial covenants under 
its credit facilities agreement.   
 
See note 20 for a discussion of the Company’s capital risk management. 
 
 
12. PROVISIONS 
 

($ in 000’s)  

Onerous leases 
due to 

impairment 
Other onerous 

leases Total 
     
As at January 1, 2010  632 196 828 
Incurred during the year  274 48 322 
Utilized during the year  (28) (45) (73) 
Unused amounts reversed  (249) - (249) 
As at December 31, 2010  629 199 828 
Utilized during the year  (533) (194) (727) 
As at December 31, 2011  96 5 101 
 

($ in 000’s)   
December 31, 

2011 
December 31, 

2010 
January 1, 

2010 
      
Current   24 421 597 
Non-current   77 407 231 
   101 828 828 
 
 
13. SHARE CAPITAL 
 
Authorized capital 
 
The authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common shares with no par value and an 
unlimited number of preference shares.   
 
Each common share represents a shareholder’s proportionate undivided interest in the Company. Each common share confers 
to its holder the right to one vote at any meeting of shareholders and to participate equally and rateably in any dividends of 
the Company, if any, and, in the event of any required distribution of all of the property of the Company, in the net assets of 
the Company remaining after satisfaction of all liabilities. 
 
The common shares are listed for trading on the TSX. 
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Common shares issued and outstanding 
 
The changes in common shares are summarized as follows: 
 

($ in 000’s except number of shares in 000’s) 

Year ended 
December 31, 2011 

Year ended 
December 31, 2010 

# of shares $ # of shares $ 
     
Balance, beginning of the year 11,842 60,074 10,419 48,880 
Issued for cash for exercised options 7 133 70 286 
Issued for cash on private placement of common 

shares, net of share issuance costs - - 1,353 10,908 
Balance, end of the year 11,849 60,207 11,842 60,074 
 
The TSX had previously accepted a notice of intention filed by the Company to make a normal course issuer bid (“NCIB”). 
During the period that commenced on July 8, 2009 and ended on July 7, 2010, the Company was permitted to purchase on 
the TSX a maximum of 200,000 common shares being approximately 3.0% of the public float (as defined by the rules and 
guidelines of the TSX) as of June 30, 2010.  The price for any such shares was the prevailing market price at the time of 
purchase.  As of July 7, 2010, the Company had repurchased 86,700 common shares at a cost of $766,000 under this notice.  
All of these share repurchases occurred during 2009. This notice expired without renewal on July 7, 2010. 
 
On December 23, 2010, the Company completed a private placement of 1,352,940 common shares at a price of $8.50 per 
share for aggregate gross proceeds of $11.5 million. This included 176,470 common shares issued pursuant to an over-
allotment option granted to the underwriters. The shares were offered pursuant to a prospectus and registration exemptions in 
each of the provinces and territories of Canada.  The $10.9 million increase to share capital, net of share issuance costs of 
$0.6 million, was offset by net proceeds of $10.7 million and a deferred tax asset of $0.2 million. The Company used the net 
proceeds from the financing to fund growth initiatives at its existing easyfinancial kiosks and for general corporate purposes, 
including debt repayment. 
 
Dividends on common shares 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company paid dividends of $3.9 million (December 31, 2010 - $3.6 million). The 
Company declared a dividend of $0.085 per share to shareholders of record on December 1, 2011, payable on January 5, 
2012 (2010 - $0.085 per share to shareholders of record on December 1, 2010, payable on January 5, 2011). The dividend 
paid on January 5, 2012 was $1.0 million (2010 - $892). 
 
  
14. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION 
 
Share Option Plan 
 
Under the Company’s stock option plan, options to purchase common shares may be granted by the Board of Directors to 
directors, officers and employees.  Options are granted at exercise prices equal to or greater than fair market value at the grant 
date, generally vest evenly over a five-year period, or vest based on earnings per share, and have exercise lives ranging from 
five to ten years.  The aggregate number of common shares reserved for issuance and which may be purchased upon the 
exercise of options granted pursuant to the plan shall not exceed 2.3 million common shares. 
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 Year ended Year ended 
 December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010 

(number of options in 000’s) 

 
 

Options 
# 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 
$ 

 
 

Options 
# 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 
$ 

     
Outstanding balance, beginning of year 631 14.58 664 14.24 
Options granted 95 8.69 169 8.59 
Options exercised - - (70) 2.20 
Options forfeited or expired (11) 14.17 (132) 11.71 
Outstanding balance, end of year 715 13.80 631 14.58 
Exercisable  balance, end of year 255 15.69 192 16.20 
 
Outstanding options to directors, officers and employees as at December 31, 2011 as follows: 
 

 
The Company uses the fair value method of accounting for stock options granted to employees and directors. During the year 
ended December 31, 2011, the Company granted 95,530 options (2010 – 168,982).  For the year ended December 31, 2011, a 
credit amount of $16  (2010 –  expense of $116) was recorded as stock-based compensation expenses with respect to stock 
options in salaries and benefits expense in the consolidated statements of income, with corresponding adjustments to 
contributed surplus. 
 
The estimated fair value of options granted during the year was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model 
with the following assumptions, resulting in a weighted average fair value of $2.03 per option (2010 – $1.78). 
 
    2011  2010 
       
Risk-free interest rate (% per annum)    2.40  2.82 
Expected hold period to exercise (years)    4.29  4.28 
Volatility in the price of the Company’s shares (%)    35.77  31.77 
Dividend yield (%)    4.39  3.94 
 

 Outstanding Exercisable 
 
 
 
Range of Exercise 
Prices 
 $ 

 
 
 
 

Options 
# (in 000’s) 

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Life in 
Years 

 
Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 
$ 

 
 
 
 

Options 
# (in 000’s) 

 
Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 
$ 

      
 

  8.00  –  10.99 320 3.74   8.70   35     9.21 
11.00  –  14.99     2 2.86 11.00     1 11.00 
15.00  –  19.99 373 1.33 17.85 202 16.44 
20.00  –  20.33   20 1.30 20.26   17 20.26 
  8.00  –  20.33 715 2.41 13.80 255 15.69 
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Restricted Share Unit Plan 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company granted no RSUs (2010 – nil) to senior executives of the Company 
under its Restricted Share Unit Plan.  RSUs are granted at fair market value at the grant date and vest based on earnings per 
share. For the year ended December 31, 2011, a credit amount of $69 (2010 - $326 expense) was recorded as a stock-based 
compensation recovery under the Restricted Share Unit Plan in salaries and benefits expense in the consolidated statements 
of income.   Additionally, for the year ended December 31, 2011, an additional 4,478 RSUs (2010 – 5,259) were granted as a 
result of dividends payable.  
 
Performance Share Unit Plan 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company granted 309,356 PSUs (2010 – 260,116) to senior executives of the 
Company under its Performance Share Unit Plan.  PSUs are granted at fair market value at the grant date and vest based on 
earnings per share.  For the year ended December 31, 2011, $277 (2010 – $450) was recorded as stock-based compensation 
expense under the Performance Share Unit Plan in salaries and benefits expense in the consolidated statements of income.   
Additionally, for the year ended December 31, 2011, an additional 17,562 PSUs (2010 – 4,169) were granted as a result of 
dividends payable.  
 
Deferred Share Unit Plan 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company granted 50,703 DSUs (2010 – 31,077) to Directors under its 
Deferred Share Unit Plan. DSUs are granted at fair market value at the grant date and vest immediately upon grant date. For 
the year ended December 31, 2011, $385 (2010 - $261) was recorded as stock-based compensation expense under the 
Deferred Share Unit Plan in salaries and benefits expense in the consolidated statements of income.   Additionally, for the 
year ended December 31, 2011, an additional 4,039 DSUs (2010 – 2,529) were granted as a result of dividends payable. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2011, $577 (2010 - $501) was recorded as stock-based compensation expense under all 
stock-based compensation plans.  The liability relating to stock-based compensation for the year ended December 31, 2011 
was $727 (2010 - $450). 
 
Contributed Surplus  

The following is a continuity of the activity in the contributed surplus account during the years ended December 31: 
 
 Years ended 

December 31 
($ in 000’s) 2011 2010 
   
Contributed surplus, beginning of year 3,061 3,142 
Stock-based compensation expense   
     Stock options (16) 116 
     Restricted share units (69) (326) 
     Deferred share units 385 261 
Reduction due to redemption of deferred share units (190) - 
Reduction due to exercise of options and units - (132) 
Contributed surplus, end of year 3,171 3,061 
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15. INCOME TAXES 
 
The Company’s income tax provision is determined as follows: 
 

($ in 000’s) 
 

 Years ended 
December 31 

  2011 2010 
     
Combined basic federal and provincial income tax rates   27.1% 30.2% 
     
Expected income tax expense   3,724 2,559 
Impact of tax rate changes on deferred  tax assets   (7) (52) 
Non-deductible expenses   156 59 
U.S. losses not tax benefitted   500 721 
Changes to tax contingencies   - (422) 
Other   (259) (465) 
   4,114 2,400 
 
The significant components of the Company’s income tax expense are as follows: 

($ in 000’s) 
 

Years ended 
December 31 

  2011 2010 
     
Current income tax:     
Current income tax charge   184 1,636 
Adjustments related to intercompany management fees and other   (1,432) 469 
     
Deferred income tax:     
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences   5,362 295 
   4,114 2,400 
 
The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets are as follows: 
 

($ in 000’s)  
December 31, 

2011 
December 31, 

2010 
January 1, 

2010 
     
Loss carryforwards  256 2,473 1,065 
Tax cost of lease assets and  property and 

equipment in excess of net book value  929 3,689 
 

5,786 
Amounts receivable and provisions  882 772 341 
Lease inducements  621 650 575 
Unearned revenue  165 250 246 
Financing fees  122 166 - 
Other  (42) 298 372 
  2,933 8,298 8,385 
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The deferred income tax asset credited directly to equity relating to financing fees for the year ended December 31, 2011 was 
$44 (2010 -  $nil). 
 
The Company and its subsidiaries have the following tax loss carryforwards that may be used to reduce taxable income in the 
future: 
 

($ in 000’s, except years) 
Tax Loss 

Carryforwards 
Benefit of Tax Loss 

Carryforwards Year of Expiry 
    
Canadian Operations    
Year ended December 31, 2009 959 256 2029 
    
U.S. Operations    
Year ended December 31, 2007 1,006 401 2026 
Year ended December 31, 2008 1,869 746 2027 
Year ended December 31, 2009 518 207 2028 
Year ended December 31, 2010 439 175 2029 
Year ended December 31, 2011 231 92 2030 
 4,063 1,621  
 5,022 1,877  
 
At December 31, 2011, the benefit of the U.S. tax loss carryforwards in the amount of $1.6 million and the U.S. deferred tax 
asset resulting from differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities have not been 
recognized due to the uncertainty of the realization of the benefit of the U.S. operational losses and the reversal of the 
differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of the assets and liabilities in the foreseeable future. If the Company 
were to recognize all unrecognized deferred tax assets at December 31, 2011, net income would have increase by $3.1 
million (December 31, 2010 - $2.7 million). 
 
At December 31, 2011, there was no recognized deferred tax liability (December 31, 2010 - $nil) for taxes that would be 
payable on the undistributed earnings of the Company’s subsidiaries. The Company has determined that undistributed 
earnings of its subsidiaries would not be distributed in the foreseeable future. 
 
 
16. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 
Basic earnings per share 
 
Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net income for the year by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during the year as follows: 
 

($ in 000’s except number of shares and earnings per share) 
 

Years ended 
December 31 

  2011 2010 
     
Net income   9,612 6,072 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding   11,849 10,490 
Basic earnings per ordinary share   0.81 0.58 
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Diluted earnings per share 

Diluted earnings per share reflect the potential dilution that could occur if additional common shares are assumed to be issued 
under securities that entitle their holders to obtain common shares in the future. The number of additional shares for inclusion 
in diluted earnings per share is determined using the treasury stock method, whereby stock options and warrants, whose 
exercise price is less than the average market price of the Company’s common shares, are assumed to be exercised and the 
proceeds are used to purchase common shares at the average market price for the period. The incremental number of common 
shares issued under stock options and warrants is included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share. 
 

($ in 000’s except number of shares and earnings per share) 
 

          Years ended 
December 31 

  2011 2010 
     
Net income for the year   9,612 6,072 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding   11,849 10,490 
Dilutive effect of stock-based compensation   85 28 
Weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding   11,934 10,518 
Dilutive earnings per ordinary share   0.81 0.58 
 
The dilutive effect of share options reflects 98,949 options for the year ended December 31, 2011 (2010 – 85,236).  For the 
year ended December 31, 2011, stock options to acquire 715,362 common shares (2010 – 406,750 options) were not included 
in the calculation of diluted earnings per share as their exercise prices exceeded the average market share price for the year. 
 

17. NET CHANGE IN OTHER OPERATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 
The net change in other operating assets and liabilities is as follows: 
 

($ in 000’s) 
 

Years ended 
December 31 

  2011 2010 
     
Amounts receivable   (1,387) (587) 
Prepaid expenses   (20) (150) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   459 6,441 
Income taxes (recoverable) payable   (665) 3,052 
Deferred lease inducements   98 156 
Unearned revenue   (748) 492 
Provisions   (727) - 
   (2,990) 9,404 
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Supplemental disclosures in respect of the consolidated statements of cash flows comprise the following: 
 

($ in 000’s) 
 

Years ended 
December 31 

  2011 2010 
     
Income taxes paid   1,327 2,692 
Income taxes refunded   1,883 3,545 
Interest paid   1,541 1,231 
Interest received         15,460 7,894 
 
 
18. COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES 
 
The Company is committed to operating leases for premises, equipment, vehicles and signage.  The minimum annual lease 
payments plus estimated operating costs required for the next five years and thereafter are as follows: 
 
 
($ in 000’s) 

 Within 1 year 

After 1 year but 
not more than 5 

years 
More than 5 

years 
     
Premises  18,108 36,209 3,142 
Other operating lease obligations  1,223 1,782 - 
Total contractual obligations  19,331 37,991 3,142 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2011, $21.8 million (2010 - $22.3 million) was recognized as an expense in the 
consolidated statements of income in respect of operating leases. 
 
In February 2010, an irrevocable standby letter of credit, in the amount of $0.5 million, was issued under the Company’s 
credit facilities for the purpose of securing the lease for the new corporate office. 
 
 
19. CONTINGENCIES 
 
Class action lawsuit 
 
The Company and certain of its current and former officers have been named as defendants in a potential class action lawsuit 
filed in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice on October 25, 2010.  This lawsuit was commenced by Andrew Sorensen, on 
behalf of shareholders who acquired the Company’s common shares between April 8, 2008 and October 15, 2010 and 
claimed total damages of $15.0 million (including punitive damages of $5.0 million).  The plaintiff alleges, among other 
things, that the Company and others made certain misrepresentations about the Company’s financial statements being 
prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. On April 8, 2011, the same plaintiff 
commenced a second action against certain current and former directors of the Company.  This second action is in the process 
of being dismissed or discontinued by the parties.  
 
The Company has not recorded any liability related to these matters. The Company’s directors’ and officers’ insurance 
policies provide for reimbursement of certain costs and expenses incurred in connection with these lawsuits, including legal 
and professional fees as well as potential damages awarded, if any, subject to certain policy limits and deductibles.   
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Other legal actions 
 
The Company is involved in various legal matters arising in the ordinary course of business.  The resolution of these matters 
is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 
 
The Company has agreed to indemnify its directors and officers and particular employees in accordance with the Company’s 
policies.  The Company maintains insurance policies that may provide coverage against certain claims. 
  
 
20. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Company manages its capital to maintain its ability to continue as a going concern and to provide adequate returns to 
shareholders by way of share appreciation and dividends. The capital structure of the Company consists of bank debt and 
shareholders’ equity, which comprises issued share capital, contributed surplus and retained earnings. 
 
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of economic conditions.  The Company, upon 
approval from its Board of Directors, will balance its overall capital structure through new share issues, share repurchases, 
the payment of dividends, increasing or decreasing bank debt or by undertaking other activities as deemed appropriate under 
specific circumstances.  The Company’s strategy, objectives, measures, definitions and targets have not changed significantly 
in the past year. 
 
The Company has externally imposed capital requirements as governed through its financing facilities. These requirements 
are to ensure the Company continues to operate in the normal course of business and to ensure the Company manages its debt 
relative to net worth.  The capital requirements are congruent with the Company’s management of capital. 
 
The Company monitors capital on the basis of its bank covenants which are tabulated as follows: 
 
Financial Covenant Requirements* As at December 31, 

2011 
Total debt to EBITDA ratio < 2.0 1.75 
Fixed coverage ratio > 1.15 1.18 
Total debt to effective tangible net worth ratio < 0.55 0.44 
Total debt to lease assets < 0.75 0.49 
*Bank covenant requirements as at December 31, 2011 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company was in compliance with all of its externally imposed financial 
covenants. 
 
21. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  
 
Overview 
 
The Company’s activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency 
risk. The Company’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial and economic markets 
and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial performance.  
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Recognition and Measurement of Financial Instruments 
 
The Company has classified its financial instruments as follows: 
 
(in 000’s) 
Financial Instruments 

 
Measurement 

December 31, 
2011 

December 31, 
2010 

January 1, 
2011 

Cash  Fair value 1,019 731 291 
Amounts receivable Amortized cost 7,258 5,871 5,284 
Consumer loans receivable Amortized cost 44,938 21,829 8,941 
Accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities 

 
Amortized cost 

 
20,231 

 
19,772 

 
13,331 

Bank revolving credit facility Amortized cost 33,123 15,649 23,764 
Term loan Amortized cost - 2,602 6,120 
 
Credit risk 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of the amounts receivable, consumer loans 
receivable and lease assets with customers under merchandise lease agreements.  The Company leases products and makes 
consumer loans to thousands of customers pursuant to policies and procedures that are intended to ensure that there is no 
concentration of credit risk with any particular individual, company or other entity, although the Company is subject to a 
higher level of credit risk due to the credit constrained nature of many of the Company’s customers and in circumstances 
where its policies and procedures are not complied with. 
 
The credit risk related to lease assets with customers results from the possibility of customer default with respect to agreed 
upon payments.  The Company has a standard collection process in place in the event of payment default, which includes the 
recovery of the lease asset if satisfactory payment terms cannot be worked out with the customer, as the Company maintains 
ownership of the lease assets until payment options are exercised.  Lease asset losses for the year ended December 31, 2011 
represented 2.2% (December 31, 2010 – 2.2%) of total revenue for the leasing segment.  
 
The credit risk related to amounts receivable and consumer loans receivable made in accordance with policies and procedures 
results from the possibility of default on rebate payments, consumer loans, and amounts due from licensee and franchisees 
and other amounts receivable.  The Company deals with credible companies, performs ongoing credit evaluations of creditors 
and consumers and allows for uncollectible amounts when determined to be appropriate. 
 
The credit risk on the Company’s consumer loans receivable made in accordance with policies and procedures is impacted by 
both the Company’s credit policies and the lending practices which are overseen by the Company’s senior management.   
Credit quality of the customer is assessed based on a credit rating scorecard and individual credit limits are defined in 
accordance with this assessment.  The consumer loans receivable are unsecured. The Company evaluates the concentration of 
risk with respect to customer loans receivable as low, as its customers are located in several jurisdictions and operate 
independently.   As at December 31, 2011, the Company’s net loan portfolio was $44.9 million (December 31, 2010 – $21.8 
million and January 1, 2010 - $8.9 million). 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
The Company addresses liquidity risk management by maintaining sufficient availability of funding through its committed 
bank revolving credit facility.  The Company manages its cash resources based on financial forecasts and anticipated cash 
flows, which are periodically reviewed with the Company’s Board of Directors. 
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The Company believes that the cash flow provided by operations will be sufficient in the near term to meet operational 
requirements, purchase lease assets, meet capital spending requirements and pay dividends.  In order for the Company to 
achieve the full growth opportunities available, it will require additional sources of financing over and above the currently 
available loan facility.  The Company is currently considering its alternatives in this regard.  While the Company is engaged 
in a series of activities to obtain the funds necessary to finance future operations, there is no certainty that these activities will 
be successful or completed on terms favourable to the Company. 
 
(in 000’s) 
Financial Instruments 

 
Measurement 

December 31, 
2011 

December 31, 
2010 

January 1, 
2011 

Accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities 

 
Amortized cost 

 
20,231 

 
19,772 

 
13,331 

Bank revolving credit facility Amortized cost 33,123 15,649 23,764 
Term Loan Amortized cost - 2,602 6,120 
 
All financial liabilities of the Company as at December 31, 2011 and 2010 are current. 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk measures the Company’s risk of financial loss due to adverse movements in interest rates.  The Company is 
subject to interest rate risk as all bank facilities bear interest at prime plus 1.25% per annum.   As at December 31, 2011, this 
rate was 4.25% per annum (December 31, 2010 – 3.75% per annum).    
 
The Company does not hedge interest rates.  Accordingly, future changes in interest rates will affect the amount of interest 
expense payable by the Company. 
 
As at December 31, 2011, all of the Company’s $33.1 million drawn bank revolving credit facility is subject to movements in 
floating interest rates. A 1% movement in the prime interest rate would have increased or decreased net income for the year 
by approximately $362.   
 
Currency risk 
 
Currency risk measures the Company’s risk of financial loss due to adverse movements in currency exchange rates.  
 
The Company sources a portion of the furniture it leases in Canada from U.S. suppliers.  As a result, the Company has 
foreign exchange transaction exposure.  These purchases are funded using regular spot rate purchases.  Pricing to customers 
can be adjusted to reflect changes in the Canadian dollar landed cost of imported goods and, as such, there is not a material 
foreign currency transaction exposure. 
 
The Company also has foreign currency transaction exposure through its Company owned, SPEs and franchise locations in 
the United States. 
  
The earnings of the Company's U.S. subsidiary and SPEs are translated into Canadian dollars each period.  A 5% movement 
in the Canadian and U.S. dollar exchange rate would have increased or decreased other comprehensive income by 
approximately $62. 
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22. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary easyhome U.S. Ltd., signed a License/Master Franchise Agreement [the 
“License Agreement”] with an entity controlled by Walter “Bud” Gates [“easygates LLC”] on March 2, 2007.  Mr. Gates was 
elected to the Company’s Board of Directors in April 2010 and was a director until December 21, 2011.  Mr. Gates did not 
participate or vote in any Board of Director discussions relating to the Licence Agreement.  The License Agreement has an 
initial six-year term and allows easygates LLC to set up easyhome franchises in the U.S., excluding the 14 U.S. states that 
border Canada.  The License Agreement provides that, for each franchise store that is opened, easygates LLC and easyhome 
will split both the initial franchise fee and the ongoing royalty fees.  As at December 31, 2011, 32 franchise locations were 
opened and operated under the License Agreement. 
 

($ in 000’s) 
 

          Years ended 
December 31 

  2011 2010 
     
Short-term employee benefits   1,756 1,611 
Share-based payment transactions   58 160 
   1,814 1,771 
  
The amounts disclosed in the table are the amounts recognized as an expense related to key management personnel during the 
reporting periods. 
 
 
23. SEGMENTED REPORTING 
 
For management purposes, the Company has three reportable segments as follows: 

• Leasing 
• easyfinancial 
• Franchising 

 
Prior to March 31, 2011, the Company’s reportable business segments were Canadian leasing, U.S. leasing and easyfinancial.  
Following a review of the reporting segments that resulted from the previously announced restructuring and the Company’s 
corresponding growth strategy, the reportable segments were adjusted to reflect the Company’s organizational structure and 
the degree of segregation of business units upon which operating decisions are made. Accounting policies for each of these 
business segments are the same as those disclosed in note 2.  Except for easyfinancial, revenue is allocated to each business 
segment based on the location of the easyhome store where the transaction originates.  easyfinancial’s revenue includes all 
revenue earned from the Company’s consumer lending business.  General and administrative expenses directly related to the 
Company’s business segments are included as operating expenses for those segments.  All other general and administrative 
expenses are reported separately.  Management assesses the performance based on pre tax operating income. 
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The following tables summarize the relevant information for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010: 
 
Year  ended 
December  31, 2011 
($ in 000’s) Leasing easyfinancial Franchising 

Corporate Costs 
Unallocated to 

Segments Total 
      
Revenue 162,464 24,463 1,398 - 188,325 
      
Total operating expenses before 

depreciation and 
amortization and unusual 
items 87,642 17,941 570 15,439 121,592 

Restructuring and other items - - - - - 
Depreciation and amortization 50,531 355 89 491 51,466 
Segment operating income (loss) 24,291 6,167 739 (15,930) 15,267 
Interest expense - - - 1,541 1,541 
Income before income taxes 24,291 6,167 739 (17,471) 13,726 
      
Assets 101,207 51,152 2,212 4,552 159,123 
Liabilities 21,710 2,099 104 37,668 61,581 
 
Year  ended 
December  31, 2010 
($ in 000’s) Leasing easyfinancial Franchising 

Corporate Costs 
Unallocated to 

Segments Total 
      
Revenue 162,237 10,824 1,123 - 174,184 
      
Total operating expenses before 

depreciation and 
amortization and unusual 
items 84,619 10,438 420 11,759 107,236 

Restructuring and other items - - - 3,069 3,069 
Depreciation and amortization 53,413 202 36 518 54,169 
Segment operating income (loss) 24,205 184 667 (15,346) 9,710 
Interest expense - - - 1,238 1,238 
Income before taxes 24,205 184 667 (16,584) 8,472 
      
Assets 106,184 25,445 2,523 4,936 139,088 
Liabilities 22,107 1,033 24 24,413 47,577 
 
The Company's goodwill of $17.3 million (December 31, 2010 - $17.3 million) is related entirely to its Canadian leasing 
segment. 
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The Company's leasing business consists of four major product categories: furniture, electronics, computers and appliances.  
Lease revenue as a percentage of total lease revenue for the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 are as 
follows: 
 

(percentage) 

 
Years ended 
December 31 

  2011 (%) 
 

2010 (%) 
     
Furniture   37 36 
Electronics   33 35 
Computers   18 17 
Appliances   12 12 
   100 100 
 
The Company operates across Canada and in certain U.S. states.  During the year ended December 31, 2011, 93% or $175.5 
million of revenue was generated in Canada and 7% or $12.8 million of revenue was generated in the U.S. (December 31, 
2010 - 95% or $165.8 million of revenue was generated in Canada and 5% or $8.4 million of revenue was generated in the 
U.S).  Additionally, as at December 31, 2011, $145.4 million of the Company’s assets were located in Canada and $13.7 
million were located in the U.S. (2010 - $128.7 million in Canada and $10.3 million in the U.S.).  
 
 
24. IFRS FIRST TIME ADOPTION 
 
IFRS standards exemptions applied 
 
IFRS 1 sets forth guidance for the initial adoption of IFRS. Under IFRS 1, the standards are applied retrospectively at the 
transitional statement of financial position date with all adjustments to assets and liabilities taken to retained earnings unless 
certain exemptions are applied. The Company has applied the following exemptions to the retrospective application of its 
opening consolidated statement of financial position as at January 1, 2010: 
 
i) Business Combinations 
 
IFRS 1 indicates that a first-time adopter may elect not to apply IFRS 3, Business Combinations [“IFRS 3”] retrospectively to 
business combinations that occurred before the date of transition to IFRS. The Company has taken advantage of this election 
and has applied IFRS 3 to business combinations that occurred on or after January 1, 2010. 
 
ii) Cumulative translation differences 
 
IFRS 1 allows a first-time adopter to not comply with the requirements of IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign 
Exchange Rates for cumulative translation differences that existed at the date of transition to IFRS. The Company has chosen 
to apply this election. If, subsequent to adoption, a foreign operation is disposed of, the translation differences that arose 
before the date of transition to IFRS will not affect the gain or loss on disposal. 
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iii) Share-based payment transactions 
 
IFRS 1 encourages, but does not require, first-time adopters to apply IFRS 2, Share-based Payment [“IFRS 2”], to equity 
instruments that were granted on or before November 7, 2002, or equity instruments that were granted subsequent to 
November 7, 2002 and vested before the later of the date of transition to IFRS and January 1, 2005. The Company has 
elected not to apply IFRS 2 to awards that vested prior to January 1, 2010, which have been accounted for in accordance with 
CGAAP. 
 
IFRS Financial statements reconciled to CGAAP 
 
For all periods up to and including the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company prepared its consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with CGAAP. These consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011 are 
the first the Company has prepared under IFRS. 
 
Accordingly, the Company has prepared consolidated financial statements which comply with IFRS applicable for periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2010 as described in the Company’s accounting policies. In preparing these consolidated 
financial statements, the Company’s opening statement of financial position was prepared as at January 1, 2010, the 
Company’s date of transition to IFRS.  
 
This note explains the principal adjustments made by the Company in restating its previous CGAAP statement of financial 
position as at January 1, 2010, and CGAAP financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010. 
 
The transition from CGAAP to IFRS has not had a material impact on the consolidated statement of cash flows with the 
exception of the classification of the purchase of lease assets.  The Company previously classified its purchase of lease assets 
as operating activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows.  Under IFRS, as the intent is to lease these assets and 
dispose of them at the end of its economic life, the Company has  classified these amounts as investing activities in the 
amount of $48.6 million in 2011 (2010 - $47.1 million). 
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The CGAAP consolidated statement of financial position at January 1, 2010 has been reconciled to IFRS as follows: 
  

($ in 000’s)  CGAAP 
IFRS 

adjustments IFRS 
     
ASSETS     
Current assets     
Cash  291 - 291 
Amounts receivable  5,284 - 5,284 
Income taxes recoverable  2,987 - 2,987 
Consumer loans receivable  7,421 - 7,421 
Prepaid expenses Note 1 1,592 (446) 1,146 
Total current assets  17,575 (446) 17,129 
Consumer loans receivable  1,520 - 1,520 
Lease assets Note 2 75,398 (5,055) 70,343 
Property and equipment Note 3 15,637 (3,302) 12,335 
Deferred tax assets Note 4 5,603 2,782 8,385 
Intangible assets Note 5 3,183 (28) 3,155 
Goodwill  17,325 - 17,325 
TOTAL ASSETS  136,241 (6,049) 130,192 
     
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
Current liabilities     
Bank revolving credit facility  23,764 - 23,764 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Note 6 13,527 (196) 13,331 
Dividends payable  884 - 884 
Deferred lease inducements  579 - 579 
Unearned revenue Note 7 3,936 882 4,818 
Term loan  3,636 - 3,636 
Provisions Note 8 - 597 597 
Total current liabilities  46,326 1,283 47,609 
Deferred lease inducements  1,724 - 1,724 
Term loan  2,484 - 2,484 
Provisions Note 8 - 231 231 
Total liabilities  50,534 1,514 52,048 
     
Shareholders’ equity     
Share capital  48,880 - 48,880 
Contributed surplus Note 9 2,996 146 3,142 
Retained earnings Note 10 33,831 (7,709) 26,122 
Total shareholders’ equity  85,707 (7,563) 78,144 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 136,241 (6,049) 130,192 
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Notes: 
 
1. Adjustment of ($446) relates to IFRS Adjustment G (Advertising and Promotional Expenditures). 
2. Adjustment of ($5,055) consists of two components: i) ($930) relates to Adjustment K (Assets on Lease Provision), ii) 

an adjustment of ($4,082) relates to IFRS Adjustment E (Vendor Incentives, Allowances and Rebates), and iii) an 
adjustment of ($43) relates to IFRS Adjustment I (Functional Currency). 

3. Adjustment of ($3,302) consists of three components: i) an adjustment of ($448) relates to IFRS Adjustment A 
(Depreciation of Property and Equipment); ii) an adjustment of ($2,840) relates to IFRS Adjustment B (Impairment of 
Assets); and iii) an adjustment of ($14) relates to IFRS Adjustment I (Functional Currency). 

4. Adjustment of $2,782 consists of two components; i) $2,531 relates to  IFRS Adjustment J (tax effect of IFRS 
Adjustments); and ii) $251 relates to Adjustments K (Assets on Lease Provision). 

5. Adjustment of ($28) relates to IFRS Adjustment I (Functional Currency). 
6. Adjustment of ($196) relates to IFRS Adjustment H (Onerous Leases). 
7. Adjustment of $882 relates to IFRS Adjustment C (Processing Fees). 
8. Adjustment of $828 relates to IFRS Adjustment H (Onerous Leases).  The current portion of this adjustment was $597 

while the non-current portion was $231. 
9. Adjustment of $146 relates to IFRS Adjustment F (Share-based Payments). 
10. Adjustment of ($7,709) consists of two components: i) ($7029) is the collective impact on retained earnings of all 

opening IFRS balance sheet adjustments; and ii) $680 relates to Adjustment K (Assets on Lease Provision) 
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The CGAAP consolidated statement of financial position at December 31, 2010 has been reconciled to IFRS as 
follows: 
  

($ in 000’s)  CGAAP 
IFRS 

adjustments IFRS 
     
ASSETS     
Current assets     
Cash  731 - 731 
Amounts receivable  4,809 - 4,809 
Consumer loans receivable  18,162 - 18,162 
Prepaid expenses Note 1 1,861 (565) 1,296 
Total current assets  25,563 (565) 24,998 
Amounts receivable  1,062 - 1,062 
Consumer loans receivable  3,667 - 3,667 
Lease assets Note 2 73,046 (5,354) 67,692 
Property and equipment Note 3 16,737 (3,784) 12,953 
Deferred tax assets Note 4 5,580 2,718 8,298 
Intangible assets Note 5 3,272 (179) 3,093 
Goodwill  17,325 - 17,325 
TOTAL ASSETS  146,252 (7,164) 139,088 
     
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
Current liabilities     
Bank revolving credit facility  15,649 - 15,649 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Note 6 19,521 (199) 19,322 
Income taxes payable  65 - 65 
Dividends payable  892 - 892 
Deferred lease inducements  578 - 578 
Unearned revenue Note 7 4,366 944 5,310 
Term loan  2,602 - 2,602 
Provisions Note 8 - 421 421 
Total current liabilities  43,673 1,166 44,839 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  450 - 450 
Deferred lease inducements  1,881 - 1,881 
Provisions Note 8 - 407 407 
Total liabilities  46,004 1,573 47,577 
     
Shareholders’ equity     
Share capital  60,074 - 60,074 
Contributed surplus Note 9 3,034 27 3,061 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss Note 10 - (257) (257) 
Retained earnings Note 11 37,140 (8,507) 28,633 
Total shareholders’ equity  100,248 (8,737) 91,511 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 146,252 (7,164) 139,088 
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Notes 
 
1. Adjustment of ($565) relates solely to IFRS Adjustment G (Advertising and Promotional Expenditures). 
2. Adjustment of ($5,354) consists of three components: i) ($930) relates to Adjustment K (Assets on Lease Provision); ii) 

($4,177) relates to IFRS Adjustment E (Vendor Incentives, Allowances and Rebates); and iii) an adjustment of ($247) 
relates to IFRS Adjustment I (Functional Currency). 

3. Adjustment of ($3,784) consists of three components: i) an adjustment of ($439) relates to IFRS Adjustment A 
(Depreciation of Property and Equipment); ii) an adjustment of ($3,251) relates to IFRS Adjustment B (Impairment of 
Assets); and iii) and adjustment of ($94) relates to IFRS Adjustment I (Functional Currency). 

4. Adjustment of $2,718 consists of two components: i) $2,467 relates to IFRS Adjustment J (Tax Effect of IFRS 
Adjustments); and ii) $251 relates to Adjustment K (Assets on Lease Provision). 

5. Adjustment of ($179) consists of two components: i) an adjustment of ($46) relates to IFRS Adjustment A (Depreciation 
of Property and Equipment); and ii) an adjustment of ($133) relates to IFRS Adjustment I (Functional Currency). 

6. Adjustment of ($199) relates to IFRS Adjustment H (Onerous Leases). 
7. Adjustment of $944 relates to IFRS Adjustment C (Processing Fees). 
8. Adjustment of $828 relates to IFRS Adjustment H (Onerous Leases).  The current portion of this adjustment is $421 

while the non-current portion is $407. 
9. Adjustment of $27 relates to IFRS Adjustment F (Share-based Payments). 
10. Adjustment of ($257) relates to IFRS Adjustment I (Functional Currency). 
11. Adjustment of ($8,507) consists of multiple components including: i) ($7,029) impact of transition date balance sheet 

IFRS adjustment; ii) ($799) impact of IFRS adjustments on net income; and iii) ($680) relating to Adjustment K (Assets 
on Lease Provision).. 
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The CGAAP statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2010 has been reconciled to IFRS as follows: 
 

($ in 000’s)  CGAAP 
IFRS 

adjustments IFRS 
     

REVENUE     
Lease revenue Note 1 159,707 (61) 159,646 
Interest income  6,603 - 6,603 
Other  Note 2 14,479 (6,544) 7,935 
  180,789 (6,605) 174,184 
     
EXPENSES BEFORE DEPRECIATION 

AND AMORTIZATION 
 

   
 Salaries and benefits Note 3 53,746 (117) 53,629 
 Advertising and promotion Note 4 5,444 118 5,562 
 Bad debts   3,984 - 3,984 
 Occupancy  25,095 - 25,095 
 Distribution and travel  7,132 - 7,132 
 Other Note 5 14,702 (2,868) 11,834 
 Restructuring and other items  3,069 - 3,069 
  113,172 (2,867) 110,305 
     
DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION     
Depreciation of lease assets Note 6 52,049 (3,453) 48,596 
Depreciation of property and equipment  Note 7 4,789 (828) 3,961 
Amortization of intangible assets Note 8 334 46 380 
Impairment, net Note 9 - 1,232 1,232 
  57,172 (3,003) 54,169 
     
Operating income  10,445 (735) 9,710 
     
Interest expense  1,238 - 1,238 
     
Income before income taxes  9,207 (735) 8,472 
     
Income tax expense     
   Current  2,105 - 2,105 
   Deferred Note 10 231 64 295 
  2,336 64 2,400 
     
Net income  6,871 (799) 6,072 
     
Basic earnings per share  0.65 (0.07) 0.58 
Diluted earnings per share  0.65 (0.07) 0.58 
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Notes: 
 
1. Adjustment of ($61) relates to IFRS Adjustment C (Processing Fees). 
2. Adjustment of ($6,544) consists of two components: i) an adjustment of ($3,560) relates to IFRS Adjustment E (Vendor 

Incentives, Allowances and Rebates); and ii) an adjustment of ($2,984) relates to IFRS Adjustment D (Customer 
Protection Programs). 

3. Adjustment of ($117) relates to IFRS Adjustment F (Share-based Payments). 
4.  Adjustment of $118 relates to IFRS Adjustment G (Advertising and Promotional Expenditures). 
5. Adjustment of ($2,868) consists of two components: i) an adjustment of ($2,983) relates to IFRS Adjustment D 

(Customer Protection Programs); and ii) an adjustment of $115 relates to IFRS Adjustment I (Functional Currency). 
6. Adjustment of ($3,453) relates to IFRS Adjustment E (Vendor Incentives, Allowances and Rebates). 
7. Adjustment of ($828) consists of two components: i) an adjustment of ($7) relates to IFRS Adjustment A (Depreciation 

of Property and Equipment); and ii) and adjustment of ($821) relates to IFRS Adjustment B (Impairment of Assets). 
8. Adjustment of $46 relates to IFRS Adjustment A (Depreciation of Property and Equipment). 
9. Adjustment of $1,232 relates to IFRS Adjustment B (Impairment of Assets). 
10. Adjustment of $64 relates to IFRS Adjustment J (Tax Effect of IFRS Adjustments). 
 
The CGAAP statement of comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2010 has been reconciled to IFRS 
as follows: 
 

($ in 000’s)  CGAAP 
IFRS 

adjustments IFRS 
     

Net income  6,871 (799) 6,072 
     
Other comprehensive loss     
Foreign currency translation reserve Note 1 - (257) (257) 
     
Comprehensive income,  6,871 (1,056) 5,815 
 
Notes: 
 
1. Adjustment of ($257) relates to IFRS Adjustment J (Functional Currency). 
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Notes to the reconciliations: 
 
The description of the CGAAP to IFRS reconciling items are presented on a pre-tax basis.  The deferred income tax effect of 
the combined adjustments is amalgamated and presented separately. 
 
A. Depreciation of Property and Equipment and Amortization of Intangible Assets 
 
Under IFRS, either an historical cost model or a revaluation model can be used to value each class of property and 
equipment.  The cost method was used under CGAAP.  The Company has elected to continue using the cost method as its 
accounting policy for the measurement of property and equipment and lease assets after initial recognition. 
 
Under CGAAP, the Company had employed the declining balance method of calculating depreciation for furniture and 
fixtures, office equipment, signage, automotive and computers.  The Company assessed that for the aforementioned asset 
classes, straight-line depreciation better reflects the usage of those assets and will be adopting straight-line depreciation for 
those asset classes.  The change in depreciation will be applied prospectively at the January 1, 2010 IFRS transition date. 
 
In addition, IFRS explicitly requires that the residual value and useful life on an asset be reviewed at least annually.  Under 
CGAAP, there is no such explicit annual requirement to perform this review.  The Company has made the determination that 
the useful lives of its fixed assets are as follows: 
 
• furniture and fixtures 7 years 
• office equipment 7 years 
• signage 7 years 
• automotive 5 years 
• computers 5 years 
• leasehold improvements lesser of lease term or 5 years 
 
The Company also adjusted the useful life of all of its software to 5 years. 
 
As a result of these changes, the net book value of property and equipment was written down by $448 as at January 1, 2010.   
 
For the year ended December 31, 2010, depreciation of property and equipment was reduced by $7 while operating income 
increased by the same amount and amortization of intangible assets increased by $46 with operating income decreasing by 
the same amount.   
 
B. Impairment of Assets 
 
CGAAP uses a two-step approach to impairment testing for long-lived assets: first by comparing asset carrying values with 
undiscounted future cash flows to determine whether impairment exists; and then measuring any impairment by comparing 
asset carrying values with fair values.  IFRS uses a one-step approach for both testing and measurement of impairment of 
long-lived assets, with asset carrying values compared directly with the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use, 
which is based on discounted future cash flows.  IFRS also requires that assets be tested for impairment at the CGU level, 
defined as the lowest level of assets that generate largely independent cash inflows, which the Company has assessed to be at 
an individual store level.  CGAAP requires assets to be grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows 
(including both inflows and outflows) are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities for impairment 
testing purposes resulting in impairment assessment being made at a higher level such as a business segment or division.  As 
a result of these differences, IFRS resulted in a higher level of impairment charge than would be otherwise required under 
CGAAP.   
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In addition, under IFRS, impairment losses previously recognized must be reversed if the circumstances leading to the 
impairment changed and caused the impairment to be reduced.  CGAAP prohibits reversal of impairment losses.   
 
Various impairment indicators were used to determine the need to test a CGU for an impairment loss.  Examples of these 
indicators include significant declines in revenue, performance significantly below budget and expectation and negative CGU 
operating income.  Where these impairment indicators existed, the carrying value of the assets within a CGU was compared 
with its estimated recoverable amount which was generally considered to be the CGU’s value in use.  When determining the 
value in use of a CGU, the Company developed a discounted cash flow model for the individual CGU.  Sales and cost 
forecasts were based on actual operating results, three-year operating budgets consistent with strategic plans presented to the 
Company’s Board of Directors and a 3% long term growth rate consistent with industry practice.  The forecasted cash flows 
wer discounted using a 22% before tax discount rate.  Where the carrying value of the CGUs assets exceeded the recoverable 
amounts, as represented by the CGU’s value in use, the store’s property and equipment assets were written down.  It was 
concluded that due to the portability of leased assets held within the CGU and the cash flows generated by individual lease 
assets that no impairment write down of the lease assets was required.  As such the CGU impairment charge was limited to 
the property and equipment held by the impaired CGU.  
 
As at January 1, 2010, an impairment charge of $2,840 was recognized.  This charge reduced property and equipment as well 
as retained earnings at the IFRS transition date. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2010 an additional net impairment expense of $1,232 was recognized.  Depreciation 
expense was reduced by $821 because of the write down of assets at January 1, 2010.  The net impact was a reduction to 
operating income of $411. 
C. Processing Fees 
 
Both CGAAP and IFRS require that lease income from operating leases shall be recognized in income on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term.  Because leases are cancellable (the lease term ranges from one week to one month in length), under 
CGAAP processing fees were recognized over the lease term.  Under IFRS, the Company has changed its policy to amortize 
processing fees over the estimated life of the customer arrangement. 
 
The impact as at January 1, 2010 increased unearned revenue and decreased retained earnings by $882. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2010, revenue and operating income were reduced by $61. 
 
D. Customer Protection Programs 
 
The Company offers various customer protection programs for customers of its leasing and financial services businesses, 
whereby customers are relieved of some maximum amount from their obligation of their payments in certain circumstances 
such as death or involuntary unemployment or illness. 
 
Under IFRS, the premiums related to the protection programs are recognized on a net basis, while they were recognized 
under CGAAP on a gross basis.   
 
There was no impact on the opening IFRS balance sheet as a result of this change. 
 
The impact of this change was to reduce both revenue and expenses by $2,983 for the year ended December 31, 2010.  The 
net impact on operating income for the year ended December 31, 2010 was nil. 
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E. Vendor Incentives, Allowances and Rebates 
 
Under CGAAP, there are two criteria that allow advertising revenue to be recognized when cash consideration is received, 
from a vendor or to support advertising for vendor products.  This criterion was met when the identified benefit was 
sufficiently separable from the customer's purchase of the vendor's products such that the customer would have entered into 
an exchange transaction with a party other than the vendor in order to provide that benefit, and the customer could reasonably 
estimate the fair value of the benefit provided. IFRS does not contain similar provisions and, therefore, advertising support 
for vendors is recognized as a reduction of lease assets. 
 
The impact as at January 1, 2010 reduced leased assets and retained earnings by $4,082. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2010, revenue reduced by $3,560 while depreciation reduced by $3,453 due to a decrease in 
the carrying value of the assets as at January 1, 2010 and assets purchased  during the year.  The net impact reduced operating 
income by $95. 
 
F. Share-based Payments 
 
Under IFRS, each instalment of share-based awards that vest in instalments shall be treated as a separate award with a 
different fair value, while CGAAP provides for an election to treat such awards as a pool and recognize the expense on a 
straight-line basis. 
 
IFRS also requires an entity to make an estimate of the forfeiture rate for the awards expected not to vest.  Under CGAAP, 
the Company recognizes forfeitures as they occur. 
 
The impact of the aforementioned differences on the opening IFRS balance sheet was an increase to contributed surplus of 
$146 with an offsetting decrease to retained earnings.   
 
For the year ended December 31, 2010, expenses were reduced by $117 with a corresponding increase in operating income. 
 
G. Advertising and Promotional Expenditures 
 
Under IFRS, advertising and promotional expenditures are expensed as incurred and an expense is considered incurred when 
the entity has the right to access the goods or when it receives the service.  Under CGAAP certain of these expenses were 
deferred over the period of intended use. For certain expenditures, including advertising, creative and related production 
costs, IFRS requires that they be expensed as incurred.  
 
As at January 1, 2010, both prepaid expenses and retained earnings decreased by $446. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2010, expenses increased by $118 and operating income decreased by the same amount. 
 
H. Onerous Leases 
 
Both CGAAP and IFRS require that a provision for an onerous contract be made when the unavoidable costs of meeting the 
obligations under a contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it. The Company has some leases 
normally related to closed or vacated stores which meet the definition of onerous leases under both CGAAP and IFRS.  
However, under IFRS, an onerous lease provision shall also be calculated for stores that are deemed impaired. In addition, 
under IFRS, provisions must be presented separately on the face of the statement of financial position. 
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The impact as at January 1, 2010 was an increase in provisions of $828, a decrease in retained earnings of $632 and a 
reclassification from accounts payable and accrued liabilities to provisions of $196 was made. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2010, occupancy costs decreased and operating income increased by $3 and a 
reclassification from accounts payable and accrued liabilities to provisions of $198 was made. 
 
I. Functional Currency 
 
Under CGAAP, the Company's U.S. operations were defined as integrated operations which meant that the Canadian dollar 
was the functional currency.  Under IFRS, the functional currency of the Company’s U.S. operations has been determined as 
the US dollar. There was no change in the functional currency of the other entities of the Company. 
 
The following factors were considered in determining the functional currency of the U.S. operations: 1) the currency that 
mainly influences sales prices for goods and services; 2) the currency of the country whose competitive forces and 
regulations mainly determine the sales prices of its goods and services; and 3) the currency that mainly influences labour, 
material and other costs of providing goods or services.  Based on these factors, it is obvious that the functional currency 
under IFRS is the U.S. dollar for U.S. operations. 
 
CGAAP does not have a hierarchy of indicators under which certain indicators are given priority.  The following factors 
which supported the U.S. operations employing the US dollar as the functional currency were considered with equal 
prominence under CGAAP but are secondary under IFRS: i) the currency in which funds from financing activities are 
generated; and ii) the currency in which receipts from operating activities are usually retained.  Since the U.S. operations 
were fully funded by the Parent Company in Canadian dollars, the functional currency of the U.S. operations was determined 
as the Canadian dollar under CGAAP. 
 
Under CGAAP, when translating the U.S. operations into the presentation currency of the Parent Company's consolidated 
financial statements, monetary assets were translated at the foreign exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date and 
non-monetary assets were translated at historical foreign exchange rates with the resulting translation gain or loss recognized 
in net income. Under IFRS all assets and liabilities of U.S. operations are translated to the presentation currency of the Parent 
Company's consolidated financial statements at the foreign exchange rate prevailing at the consolidated balance sheet date 
with  the resulting translation gain or loss being recognized in other comprehensive income. 
 
As at January 1, 2010, the impact was a reduction of assets of $84 and a corresponding reduction of retained earnings. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2010, expenses increased by $118, amortization increased by $14 and operating income 
decreased by $132. Foreign exchange translation reserve of $(257) was recognized in other comprehensive income.  
 
J. Tax Effect of IFRS Adjustments 
 
The change from CGAAP to IFRS did not significantly impact the way in which the Company accounts for income taxes.  
However, the various CGAAP to IFRS adjustments outlined above do impact deferred taxes.  These impacts are presented in 
amalgam. 
 
As at January 1, 2010, the impact was an increase in deferred tax assets and retained earnings of $2,531. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2010, deferred income tax expense increased by $64. 
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Other adjustments not related to IFRS adoption  
 
K. Assets on Lease Provision 

The Company's lease assets are subject to theft, loss or other damage from its customers.  Previously, the Company charged 
off the remaining book value of these lease assets when it was determined that these lease assets could not be recovered. The 
Company has determined that a provision should have been recorded under Canadian GAAP, representing the amount of 
assets currently out on lease that will not be returned to the Company.  
 
The impact of this error as at January 1, 2010 is reduced leased assets by $930, increased future tax asset of $251 and reduced 
by retained earnings by $679. This error does not have a material impact on net income or EPS recorded in 2010 or 2011.  
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